## Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences 29 (2022) 103481

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com

# Review Nucleotide and nucleoside-based drugs: past, present, and future Ahmed Abdullah Al Awadh

Department of Clinical Laboratory Sciences, Faculty of Applied Medical Sciences, Najran University, 1988, Najran 61441, Saudi Arabia

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 April 2022 Revised 28 September 2022 Accepted 20 October 2022 Available online 31 October 2022

Keywords: Nucleotide Nucleoside Inhibitors RdRp Infection Pandemic

# ABSTRACT

Nucleotide and nucleoside-based analogue drugs are widely used for the treatment of both acute and chronic viral infections. These drugs inhibit viral replication due to one or more distinct mechanisms. It modifies the virus's genetic structure by reducing viral capacity in every replication cycle. Their clinical success has shown strong effectiveness against several viruses, including ebolavirus, hepatitis C virus, HIV, MERS, SARS-Cov, and the most recent emergent SARS-Cov2. In this review, seven different types of inhibitors have been selected that show broad-spectrum activity against RNA viruses. A detailed overview and mechanism of actionof both analogues are given, and the clinical perspectives are discussed. These inhibitors incorporated the novel SARS-CoV-2 RdRp, further terminating the polymerase activity with variable efficacy. The recent study provides a molecular basis for the inhibitory activity of virus RdRp using nucleotide and nucleoside analogues inhibitors. Furthermore, to identify those drugs that need more research and development to combat novel infections. Consequently, there is a pressing need to focus on present drugs by establishing their cell cultures. If their potencies were evidenced, then they would be explored in the future as potential therapeutics for novel outbreaks.

© 2022 The Author. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

## Contents

1.	Introduction	
2.	Nucleotide and nucleoside analogue innibitors (Nis)	
	2.1. Remdesivir	
	2.2. Sofosbuvir	
	2.3. Ribavirin	
	2.4. Galidesivir	
	2.5. Tenofovir	
	2.6. Mizoribine	
	2.7. Favipiravir	
3.	Conclusion	
	Declaration of Competing Interest	
	References	

E-mail address: aaalawadh@nu.edu.sa

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.

ELSEVIER Production and hosting by Elsevier

## 1. Introduction

Nucleotide and nucleoside analogues are both similar in structure that acts as antimetabolites. Nucleotide inhibitors consist of phosphate groups, sugar, and nucleic acid analogue with one to three phosphates. Nucleoside inhibitors consist of sugar and nucleic acid analogue. Both inhibitors are used in antiviral prod-

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2022.103481

1319-562X/© 2022 The Author. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).







ucts and therapeutic drugs to inhibit virus replication in infected cells (Seley-Radtke et al., 2018). The efficacy of nucleotide analogs was confirmed both in vitro and invivo against various retroviruses and DNA viruses (Ever et al., 2018). Based on structure, nucleotide analogs are also known as acyclic nucleoside phosphonates (nucleoside monophosphates). It prevents the first step of phosphorylation, which is necessary to activate nucleoside analogs, including lamivudine, adenosine, stavudine, abacavir, and zidovudine (Groaz et al., 2021). Nucleoside analogues are an introductory class of antiviral agents commonly used in the therapy of herpes simplex virus (HSV), human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection, varicella-zoster (VZV), hepatitis B and C viruses (Liver Tox, 2021). The nucleoside analogues are similar to the natural nucleotides that terminate the nascent DNA chain. Primarily, these agents are safe and well-tolerated, used by the virus but not human polymerases in DNA replication (Ewald et al., 2008). Nucleoside analogues are the fundamental agents in which several drugs are available against cancer and bacterial antibacterial (Thomson et al., 2019). Nucleotide and nucleoside analogues are significant antiviral agents inhibiting polymerases and showing clinical efficacy. They are currently used to treat herpes simplex, hepatitis B- and HIV-1 infection and are crucial in HAART therapy. It suppresses the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase NS5Bof HCV in its activated form (Chien et al., 2020). The analysis of coronavirus, hepatitis C virus replication, viral inhibitors' activities, and molecular structures have shown that Sofosbuvir triphosphate acts as an effective inhibitor of the SARS-CoV-2 RdRp (Ju et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2022). A previous study indicates that Sofosbuvir, Remdesivir, Ribavirin, Tenofovir, and Galidesivir could show inhibitory activity against SARS-CoV-2 RdRp (Hasan et al., 2021). Remdesivir is a phosphoramidite prodrug in which 1'-cyano modification occurs on the sugar. The virus-infected cells convert it into adenosine triphosphate analogue by inhibiting RdRps of MERS-CoV, SARS-CoV, and SARS-CoV-2 (Gordon et al., 2020a, 2020b). Similarly, FDA has announced that Remdesivir can be used against COVID-19 in emergency cases (FDA, 2021). These analogues have not been documented in detail as an agent against anti-hepatitis virus agents and anti-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). Moreover, these are at different testing phases, such as the preclinical phase, excluded from trials or approved as drugs. The knowledge gained by various metabolism pathways shows that the future nucleotide prodrugs designed will be more inclusive. It would be either the combination of existing drugs or the tissue-targeted drugs with one or more prodrugs against several viral infections. The discovery of nucleotide/nucleoside drugs has been a remarkable scientific approach over the last 15 years. It



Fig. 1. The structure of Remdesivir.

may act as a fundamental target for developing nucleotide/nucleoside prodrugs in the future.

# 2. Nucleotide and nucleoside analogue inhibitors (NIs)

Recently, NIs have been used to treat acute and chronic viral infections. They were administered as nucleoside or nucleotide prodrugs or precursors to metabolize intracellularly to their active triphosphate due to viral or host kinases. NIs inhibits viral replication due to one or more discrete exclusive mechanisms. The improper corporation of foreign nucleotides in the replication of virus genomes leads to chain termination and disruption of transcription or replication. The mechanism of chain termination is spontaneous (obligate) or occurs in a limited range after the continuous synthesis of DNA or RNA (non-obligate (Pruijssers et al., 2019). Additionally, NIs are integrated into elongating nucleotide chains that do not incorporate and replace natural nucleotides. Hence the introduction of mutations that may inhibit RNA synthesis, interaction, or structure of RNA proteins or functions of the protein. The development of mutations and failure of the virus's capability is known as error catastrophe or lethal mutagenesis. NIs modifies the virus's genetic structure with these mechanisms, which causes a reduction in viral capacity with all successive replication cycles (Pruijssers et al., 2019; Parang et al., 2020).

## 2.1. Remdesivir

Remdesivir (GS-5734) is a nucleotide analogue capable of inhibiting the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp), a significant protein for virus replication (Fig. 1). Gilead Sciences discovered Remdesivir, and further development occurred as the collaboration became stronger between Gilead, the US Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases (USAMRIID), and the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Primarily, the drug was used to treat Marburg infections and Ebola (EBOV) but has not shown any clinical efficacy. In addition, antiviral activity has been demonstrated against single-stranded RNA viruses. including MERS and SARS-Cov (Scavone et al., 2020; Eastman et al., 2020). Recent results from preclinical studies suggest that Remdesivir-related drugs may be more potent in countering the COVID-19 disease (Sheahan et al., 2017a). The case report indicated that a coronavirus patient in the United States with deteriorating clinical health had been treated with Remdesivir. His condition improved significantly within two days of treatment. He no longer needed supplementary oxygen, with only a few symptoms such as a sore throat, dry cough, and mild rhinorrhea. An additional case of patient recovery with Remdesivir has been reported. Nevertheless, data are inadequate for the case report; Remdesivir may be a potential treatment option (Wang et al., 2020). Animal experiments have shown that Remdesivir may be potent in reducing the virus load in the lung tissue of infected mice with MERS-CoV-, improving the function of the lungs, and reducing pathological damage to lung tissue (Martinez et al., 2021). The significance of Remdesivir in vivo against COVID-19 disease, prevents infection at low micro molecular concentrations (EC<sub>50</sub> =  $0.77 \mu$ M); CC<sub>50</sub> = 100 µM; SI = 129.87) (Sheahan et al., 2020a). RDV triphosphate (RDV-TP) acts as a substrate for multivitamin RNA polymerase complexes (RdRp) and delayed chain termination mechanisms. It is also used to inhibit RNA synthesis in the case of all three types of corona viruses (SARS-CoV, SARS-CoV-2, and MERS-CoV). RDV-TP virus is analogous to the specific adenosine triphosphate (ATP) molecule during the viral synthesis of RNA. Once Remdesivir binds, RdRp ceases to incorporate RNA subunit, which causes inhibition of covid genome replication (Wang et al., 2020). A physics-based molecular modeling study of the binding

mechanism has been performed between SARS-CoV-2 RdRp and Remdesivir. The relative free binding energy of Remdesivir was calculated to be  $-8.28 \pm 0.65$  kcal/mol. It is higher than the natural ATP substrate required for polymerization (-4.14 ± 0.89 kcal/mo 1). These results suggest that Remdesivir acts as a chain terminator for SARS-CoV-2 RNA. Both efficiently inhibit RNA proliferation by replacing "local ligand" ATP upon introduction to the binding grip of SARS-CoV-2 (Saha et al., 2020). The results of the molecular docking demonstrate that possible targets of Remdesivir is Echannel (mfScore = -125.1), RdRp (mfScores = -112.8), and Nsp3b (score = -36.5), TMPRSS2 (score = -36.23, mfScores = 109.4) (Wu et al., 2020). In the case of RdRp, the generated docking model allows binding of Remdesivir to the SARS-CoV-2 RdRp with RNA binding channel. The dual role of Remdesivir (1'-cyano group) is the inhibition of nucleotide proofreading and addition. A single Remdesivir is not enough to inhibit RNA synthesis by adding Nucleotides In contrast, the polar 1 E-sine group of RAM presence in the upper region causes instability through its electrolyte interaction with the salt bridge developed by ASP865 and Lys 593, which results in unfavorable translocation. It ultimately leads to a delay of three nucleotides in the RNA extension. Remdesivir inhibits the cleavage through a steric clash between the Asn104 and 1'cyano group for proofreading. Its binding pocket (1'-cyano group) is located on the lower side of the RNA template channel, a significant locus of the nucleotide acceptor template. The organization of the compound with a pocket shape forms three hydrogen bonds with Asp684, Arg569, and Asn497. Furthermore, hydrophobic interactions withTyr687, Ala685, and Leu576 directed the preferred confirmation of Remdesivir (Zhang et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2020). The half-life (plasma) is 0.39A upon 10 mg/kg intravenous dose in non-human primates. The half-life of the nucleoside triphosphate metabolite in non-human primates and humans is 14 h; 20 h, respectively (Zhang et al., 2020).

## 2.2. Sofosbuvir

Sofosbuvir (GS-7977 or SOF; specifically known as PSI-7977) was primarily introduced by Pharmasset ltd in 2010. The company aims to find novel antiviral drugs, later acquired in 2011 by Gilead Science, which sustained the drug's development in various preclinical and clinical trials (Sheahan et al., 2017b). Sofosbuvir, a

nucleotide analogue, has been approved primarily to treat the infection of the hepatitis C virus (HCV) (Gentile et al., 2015). Its primary function is to inhibit the NS5B RNA-dependent RNA polymerase of HCV and play a role in chain termination and replication of the virus. The cellular enzyme converts the sofosbuvir phosphorylation inside the host cell (hepatocyte) into the active form of the nucleoside triphosphate. It demonstrates substantial efficacy in the assay of HCV sub genomic replicon < 1  $\mu$ M. In the in vivo administration, high levels of triphosphate and primary hepatocytes were produced in the liver of rats, monkeys, and dogs which inhibit HCV RNA-dependent RNA polymerase NS5B. Activated drug (2-, Me-UTP) binds to the active RdRp site. It further combines RNA and inhibits RNA chain extension due to modification in methyl and fluoro at position 2, which halts RNA replication and viral growth (Götte and Feld, 2016; Sofia et al., 2010). The analvsis of YFV RNA polymerase showed that binding of sofosbuyir triphosphate occurred between the palm and the region of the finger, resulting in hydrogen compounds with Lys 693, Trp539, Ser603, and Gly538 residues and salt bridge interactions with Lys359 and two Mg<sup>2+</sup> ions (Fig. 2) (Kayali and Schmidt, 2014). Theoretically, it was confirmed with experimental observation showing that after oral administration of one or more doses, the systemic circulation absorbed at least 80 %, with a median Tmax of 1 h (range: 0.5-3 h). The SOF is metabolized in the liver and produces GS-461203; after the next stage of dephosphorylation releases the primary circulating metabolite GS-331007-SOF, which accounts for the exposure of systemic drug (90 %) both in healthy and HCV patients (Mc Quaid et al., 2015). Following oral administration, the maximum concentration of SOF dose was determined within 0.5 to 2 h post-dose. Nevertheless, the administered dose, GS-331007 Cmax, occurred after SOF delivery within 2 to 4 h post (Geddawy et al., 2017).

The plasma protein binding of sofosbuvir is 61 to 65 %, but less in human plasma (GS-331007). The main pathway of SOF metabolism is the degradation by hydrolases leading to GS-331007, while in phase I trials, SOF has rapidly removed with an average half-life ( $t\frac{1}{2}$ ) of 0.48 to 0.75 h (Smolders et al., 2016). Nevertheless, the GS-331007 metabolite possessed a wide-ranging Tmax (range: 1.5 to 8 h; median: 4 h) and a wide-ranging half-life (range: 7.27 to 11.80 h); both GS-331007 and SOF have shown appropriate assembly (Babusis et al., 2018).



Fig. 2. H-bonding and hydrophobic interactions of Sofosbuvir COVID -19 RdRp.



Fig. 3. The chemical structure of Ribavirin.

#### 2.3. Ribavirin

In 1972, Whitkovsky and colleagues discovered Ribavirin (Fig. 3), aguanosine nucleoside analog with wide-ranging activity against several viruses, DNA, and RNA. It was initially synthesized as monotherapy to treat viral infections (interferon-alpha (IFNalpha) or with the respiratory syncytial virus as a combined therapy (HCV) (Elfikyet al., 2020; Witkowski et al., 1972). The molecular basis of Ribavirin antiviral activity against HCV was vulnerable due to the lack of HCV replication animal models, availability, and efficient HCV culture systems. The results of an RNA virus and limited data on HCV itself show that the antiviral potential of Ribavirin acts as a single agent was determined in four ways: (1) To inhibit the HCV replication directly, (2) To suppress the inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH), a host enzyme (3) the speeding up the viral replicating due to induction of mutagenesis behind the threshold to error catastrophe, (4) Immunomodulation to persuade immune response (Th1). In particular, it was not obvious which mechanism is most prominent in the synergic action of Ribavirin with IFN alfa. Due to adenosine kinase, the intracellular conversion of Ribavirin occurs into Ribavirin monophosphate (RMP), which is converted further into different forms such as diphosphorylated and triphosphorylated by diphosphate kinases and nucleoside monophosphate. Mostly, in every type of cell, the formation of ribavirin triphosphate (RTP) becomes dominant, which is covered at concentrations 20 times higher than RMP. The RTP is bound to the nucleotide-binding site of RNA polymerase, which halts the proper binding of Nucleotide, causing a reduction of viral replication or forming defective virions (Sidwell et al., 1972; Hofmann et al., 2008). Ribavirin showed excellent antiviral activity against RSV with  $CC_{50}$  = 24.0  $\mu$ M and  $IC_{50}$  = 20.9  $\mu$ M (Te et al., 2007). It can block the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase activity (Feld, 2005). In the previous study, 75 patients with SARS were treated with intravenous Ribavirin



Fig. 4. The chemical structure of Galidesivir.

8 mg/kg every 8 h for 14 days, while others depended on the patient's condition. Improvements were observed in 46 patients in which 11 were stable, 18 patients health deteriorated, and five died Khalili et al, 2020). The docking report suggested that Ribavirin with 7.8 kcal/mol of energy binds to RdRp of SARS-CoV-2, which contradicts polymerase's function. The single interactions observed with docking are the 13H-bonds with N582, Y510, D514, W508, K512, W691, A653, D651, and C513 of the (RdRp) SARS-CoV-2 Therefore, it was considered a potent candidate for anti-COVID-19 possible drugs (Hofmann et al., 2008). Ribavirin has been studied for its metabolism in EBV-transformed lymphoblasts, cultured skin fibroblasts, and intact human erythrocytes. At 35 PM, the extracellular concentration of Ribavirin, all types of cells synthesized Ribavirin mono-, di-, and triphosphates. Their nucleotide concentrations are peaked at 210, 245, and 267 min for erythrocytes, lymphoblasts, and fibroblasts. The ratio of mono-, di-, and triphosphates was 1:5:17 in ervthrocytes. 2,3:1:8 in lymphoblasts, and ca 4: 1:40 in fibroblasts. Its evacuation from the medium increases the Ribavirin nucleotides' halflife to 24 hr in erythrocytes (Page et al., 1990).

## 2.4. Galidesivir

Galidesivir (Fig. 4) was developed by Bio Cryst Pharmaceuticals (Arora et al., 2021). It is a nucleoside analogue of adenosine, primarily developed against filoviruses. It is active against different viruses; tick-borne encephalitis virus, yellow fever virus, Japanese encephalitis virus, West Nile virus, and dengue virus, both in small animal models and in vitro cell cultures (Warren et al., 2014: Bugert et al., 2020; Julanderet al., 2017; Taylor et al., 2016). It inhibits the viral synthesis of RNA by blocking RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP) activity using non-obligate RNA chain termination. The parental compound Galidesivir is primarily converted to Galidesivir-triphosphate binds with the newly RNA virus by the RdRP, resulting in early transcription termination through the 3'hydroxyl group that causes additional accumulation of a nucleotide. Their Direct action on the virus RDRP enables Galidesivir to show a broad-ranging antiviral activity against various viruses (Julander et al., 2014). Docking studies explained that this drug binds tightly to RdRpof SARS-CoV-2 (binding energy = -7.0 kcal/ mol), inhibiting the polymerase function. It is considered an effective anti-COVID-19 possible drug (Elfiky et al., 2020). Upon incubation with liver fractions of S9 from a variety of animal species, it is metabolically stable (elimination half-life (t1/2) > 54 min). The pharmacokinetics of BCX4430 in guinea, rats, Cynomolgus macaques, mice, and pigs are characterized by rapid plasma elimination (half-life = <5 min). Similarly, the half-life of the active form BCX4430-TP was significantly higher in the liver of rats at 6.2 h (Ever et al., 2017). The interaction of Galidesivir occurs with a



Fig. 5. The chemical structure of Tenofovir.



Fig. 6. The chemical structure of Mizoribine.

receptor (RdRp). The green dot bar shows the residues of LYS-798, SER-814, AS-761, and ALA-762 of RdRp H-with inhibitor Galidesivir (Westover et al., 2018).

### 2.5. Tenofovir

Tenofovir [(R)-9-(2-phosphonylmethoxypropyl) adenine (Fig. 5) was firstly introduced in 1993 (). It is a nucleotide analog used to treat hepatitis B and HIV infection (Warren et al., 2014; Aftab et al., 2020; De Clercq et al., 2013). Tenofovir showed excellent antiviral activity against human immunodeficiency virus (Hall et al., 2021). It blocks reverse transcriptase, competing for inclusion into elongated DNA strands with natural nucleotide subunits, and with the lack of 3'-OH shows similarity to chain-terminators. According to the results of the docking study, it is an effective inhibitor of SARS-CoV-2 RdRp. Its higher binding ability with SARS-CoV-2 RdRp, (6.9 kcal/mol) interferes with the polymerase function (Parientiet al., 2021). A result from docking technique show that it forms 5H-bonds in with W508, D652, A653, W691, and E702, can be effective candidates as a possible drug anti-COVID-19 (Elfiky et al., 2020).

Plasma TFV has shown triphasic failure with the terminal exclusion of half-life median [interquartile range (IQR)] 69 h. Peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) TFV-DP has shown a terminal half-



Fig. 7. The chemical structure of Favipiravir.

life of 48 h followed by biphasic peaks (median 12 h and 96 h) (James et al., 2004).

## 2.6. Mizoribine

Mizoribine (Fig. 6) is a novel immunosuppressive drug approved by the Government of Japan in 1984 (Tanaka et al., 2008). Mizoribine inhibits DNA synthesis but not protein synthesis with mouse lymphoma cell line L5178Y (Pyrc et al., 2006). The yield and plaque reduction assays determine mizoribine activity, an inosine-5-monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH) inhibitor against SARS and its association with coronavirus. Mizoribine has played a significant role in the SARS-CoV replication. The Mizoribine has an IC500f 50 % against SARS-CoV HKU39849, and SARS-CoV Frankfurt-1 was described in plaque reduction (3.5 µg/ml and 16 µg/ml). It's 50 % cytotoxic concentration for Vero E6 cells was higher than 200 µg/ml. The dosage of 10 µg/ml inhibited the SARS-CoV replication by reducing the infectious titers to onetenth or less in the yield reduction assay. The significance of Mizoribine is the inhibition of SARS-CoV replication effectively but fails to completely inhibit SARS-CoV replication even at higher (100 µg/ml) concentrations (Sheahan et al., 2020b). Oral MZB spread within 2-3 h to the peak serum concentrations and is usually excreted through the kidney (65-100 % of dose), and the halflife of its serum was 3 h (Kawasaki et al., 2009).

# 2.7. Favipiravir

Favipiravir (6-fluoro-3-hydroxy-2-pyrazine-carboxamide) (Fig. 7) isalso called T-705. Favipiravir is a purine nucleoside analogue primarily developed and approved to treat influenza viruses in Japan. The significance of Favipiravir is to block the influenza virus (RdRps) selectively. Its active form is favipiravir-ribofurano syl-5'-triphosphate (RTP) which can be obtained with phosphorribosylation by cellular enzymes. The addition of purine nucleic acids causes a reduction of the antiviral effect, which shows that the RNA polymerase of the virus identifies the favipiravir-RTP mistakenly as a purine nucleotide. It performs activity against wideranging influenza viruses such as A(H5N1), A(H1N1) pdm09, and the most recent A(H7N9) avian virus. Its activity was proven against the strains of influenza that showed resistance to the most recent antiviral drugs. It also has a synergistic effect with oseltamivir in the combined form, which greatly expands treatment options for influenza. Favipiravir and anti-influenza activity inhibit RNA viruses replication; hantaviruses (Prospect Hill, Dobrava, and Maporal); Western equine encephalitis virus; phleboviruses (Rift Valley, sandfly fever, and Punta Toro); respiratory syncytial virus; a paramyxovirus; alphavirus enteroviruses (polio, and rhinoviruses); noroviruses; flaviviruses (West Nile and yellow fever); arena viruses (Machupo, Pichinde, and Junin). Favipiravir's wideranging antiviral activity and unique mechanism are considered a successful drug candidate for RNA and influenza infection (Furuta et al., 2013; Du et al., 2018; Gowen et al., 2018). The recent study of Favipiravir shows excellent in vitro antiviral activity of (SI = > 6.46), CC\_{50} = 400  $\mu M$ , and EC\_{50} = 61.88  $\mu M)$  against SARS-CoV-2 (Kawasaki et al., 2009).

# 3. Conclusion

This review has compiled the most crucial literature regarding nucleotide and nucleoside developments and analogues to treat several viral infections. We examined that both analogues induced the essential effect on the viral life cycle. It has a central role in competitively inhibiting RdRp-mediated viral RNA synthesis. It was administered safely to the COVID-19 hospitalized patients and was influential in critically affected people who had not received mechanical ventilation. There is an emergency need for further research in developing nucleoside/nucleoside precursors, initiating with novel synthetic structures, and comparing their evaluation against existing and unknown types of viruses. The significance of nucleotide and nucleoside analogue is too high against most virus types. Despite their sufficient efficacy against multiple kinds of viruses; still, further research would be needed to investigate whether these inhibitors can show optimum potency against SARS-CoV-2. Thus, it is pressing to focus on this field, and the scientific research should not be stopped and should continue with full enthusiasm. In addition, if novel viral infection outbreaks occur in the future, these inhibitors would be the primary choice to eliminate the infection burden.

# **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

## References

- Aftab, S.O., Ghouri, M.Z., Masood, M.U., Haider, Z., Khan, Z., Ahmad, A., Munawar, N., 2020. Analysis of SARS-CoV-2 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase as a potential therapeutic drug target using a computational approach. J. Translational Med. 18 (1), 1–15.
- Arora, G. et al., 2021. Recent advances made in the synthesis of small drug molecules for clinical applications: an insight. Curr. Res. Green Sustainable Chem. 4, 100097. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crgsc.2021.100097.
- Babusis, D. et al., 2018. Sofosbuvir and ribavirin liver pharmacokinetics in patients infected with hepatitis C cirus. Antimicrobial Agents Chemother. 62 (5). https:// doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02587-17.
- Bugert, J.J., Hucke, F., Zanetta, P., Bassetto, M., Brancale, A., 2020. A Antivirals in medical biodefense. Virus Genes 56 (2), 150–167. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11262-020-01737-5.
- Chien, M., Anderson, T.K., Jockusch, S., Tao, C., Li, X., Kumar, S., Russo, J.J., Kirchdoerfer, R.N., Ju, J., 2020. Nucleotide analogues as inhibitors of SARS-CoV-2 polymerase, a key drug target for COVID-19. J. Proteome Res. 19 (11), 4690–4697. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jproteome.0c00392. Epub 2020 Aug 5. PMID: 32692185; PMCID: PMC7640960.
- De Clercq, E., 2013, The Holý Trinity: the acyclic nucleoside phosphonates. In: Advances in Pharmacology (Vol. 67, pp. 293 316). Academic Press.
- Du, Y.X., Chen, X.P., 2020. Favipiravir: pharmacokinetics and concerns about clinical trials for 2019-nCoV infection. Clin. Pharmacol. Therapeutics 108 (2), 242–247.
- Eastman, R.T., Roth, J.S., Brimacombe, K.R., Simeonov, A., Shen, M., Patnaik, S., Hall, M.D., 2020. Remdesivir: a review of its discovery and development leading to emergency use authorization for treatment of COVID-19. ACS Central Sci.
- Elfky, A., 2020. Ribavirin, Rendesivir, Sofosbuvir, Galidesivir, and Tenofovir against SARS-CoV-2 RNA dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp): a molecular docking study. Life Sci. 253, 117592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117592.

Ewald, B., Sampath, D., Plunkett, W., 2008. Nucleoside analogs: molecular mechanisms signaling cell death. Oncogene 27 (50), 6522–6537.

- Eyer, L., Zouharová, D., Širmarová, J., Fojtíková, M., Štefánik, M., Haviernik, J., Nencka, R., De Clercq, E., Růžek, D., 2017. Antiviral activity of the adenosine analogue BCX4430 against West Nile virus and tick-borne flaviviruses. Antiviral Res. 142, 63–67.
- Eyer, L., Nencka, R., De Clercq, E., Seley-Radtke, K., Růžek, D., 2018. Nucleoside analogs as a rich source of antiviral agents active against arthropod-borne flaviviruses. Antiviral Chem. Chemother. 26. 2040206618761299.
- FDA News Release, May 1, 2020. Remdesivir EUA Letter of Authorization. (https:// www.fda.gov/media/137564/download).
- Feld, J.J., Hoofnagle, J.H., 2005. Mechanism of action of interferon and ribavirin in treatment of hepatitis C. Nature 436, 967–972.
- Furuta, Y., Gowen, B.B., Takahashi, K., Shiraki, K., Smee, D.F., Barnard, D.L., 2013. Favipiravir (T-705), a novel viral RNA polymerase inhibitor. Antiviral Res. 100 (2), 446–454.
- Geddawy, A. et al., 2017. Direct acting anti-hepatitis C virus drugs: clinical pharmacology and future direction. J. Translational Internal Medicine 5. https:// doi.org/10.1515/jtim-2017-0007.
- Gentile, I., Maraolo, A.E., Buonomo, A.R., Zappulo, E., Borgia, G., 2015. The discovery of sofosbuvir: a revolution for therapy of chronic hepatitis C. Expert Opinion Drug Discov. 10 (12), 1363–1377.
- Gordon, C.J., Tchesnokov, E.P., Feng, J.Y., Porter, D.P., Götte, M., 2020a. The antiviral compound remdesivir potently inhibits RNA-dependent RNA polymerase from Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus. J. Biol. Chem. 295 (15), 4773– 4779.

- Gordon, C.J., Tchesnokov, E.P., Woolner, E., Perry, J.K., Feng, Y.J., Porter, D.P., Götte, M., 2020b. Remdesivir is a direct-acting antiviral that inhibits RNA-dependent RNA polymerase from severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 with high potency. J. Biol. Chem. 295, 6785–6797. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. RA120.013679.
- Götte, M., Feld, J.J., 2016. Direct-acting antiviral agents for hepatitis C: structural and mechanistic insights. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 13 (6), 338.
- Groaz, E., De Jonghe, S., 2021. Overview of biologically active nucleoside phosphonates. Front. Chem. 8, 1212.
- Gowen, B.B., Sefing, E.J., Westover, J.B., et al., 2015. Alterations in favipiravir (T-705) pharmacokinetics and biodistribution in a hamster model of viral hemorrhagic fever. Antiviral Res. 121, 132–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. antiviral.2015.07.003.
- Hasan, M.K., Kamruzzaman, M., Manjur, O.H.B., Mahmud, A., Hussain, N., Mondal, M.S.A., Hosen, M.I., Bello, M., Rahman, A., 2021. Structural analogues of existing antiviral drugs inhibit SARS-CoV-2 RNA dependent RNA polymerase: a computational hierarchical investigation. Heliyon 7 (3), e06435.
- Hofmann, W.P., Herrmann, E., Sarrazin, C., Zeuzem, S., 2008. Ribavirin mode of action in chronic hepatitis C: from clinical use back to molecular mechanisms. Liver Int. 28 (10), 1332–1343.
- James, C.W., Steinhaus, M.C., Szabo, S., Dressler, R.M., 2004. Tenofovir-related nephrotoxicity: case report and review of the literature. Pharmacother. J. Hum. Pharmacol. Drug Ther. 24 (3), 415–418.
- Ju, J., Kumar, S., Li, X., 2020. Nucleotide analogues as inhibitors of viral polymerases. bioRxiv.
- Julander, J.G., Bantia, S., Taubenheim, B.R., Minning, D.M., Kotian, P., Morrey, J.D., Smee, D.F., Sheridan, W.P., Babu, Y.S., 2014. BCX4430, a novel nucleoside analog, effectively treats yellow fever in a hamster model. Antimicrobial Agents Chemother. 58 (11), 6607–6614.
- Julander, J.G., Siddharthan, V., Evans, J., Taylor, R., Tolbert, K., Apuli, C., Stewart, J., Collins, P., Gebre, M., Neilson, S., VanWettere, A., 2017. Efficacy of the broadspectrum antiviral compound BCX4430 against Zika virus in cell culture and in a mouse model. Antiviral Res. 137, 14–22.
- Kawasaki, Y., 2009. Mizoribine: a new approach in the treatment of renal disease Clinical and Developmental Immunology.
- Kayali, Z., Schmidt, W.N., 2014. Finally sofosbuvir: an oral anti-HCV drug with wide performance capability. Pharmacogenomics Personalized Medicine 7, 387.
- Khalili, J.S. et al., 2020. Novel coronavirus treatment with ribavirin: Groundwork for an evaluation concerning COVID-19. J. Medical Virol. 92 (7), 740–746. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25798.
- National Institutes of Health Livertox: clinical and research information on druginduced liver injury, 2017. Available from: Nih. gov https://livertox.nih.gov.
- Martinez, D.R., Schaefer, A., Leist, S.R., Gully, K., Feng, J.Y., Bunyan, E., Porter, D.P., Cihlar, T., Montgomery, S.A., Baric, R.S., Nussenzweig, M.C., 2021. Early therapy with remdesivir and antibody combinations improves COVID-19 disease in mice. BioRxiv.
- Mc Quaid, T., Savini, C., Seyedkazemi, S., 2015. Sofosbuvir, a Significant Paradigm Change in HCV Treatment. Journal of clinical and translational hepatology 3 (1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.14218/JCTH.2014.00041.
- Page, T., Connor, J.D., 1990. The metabolism of ribavirin in erythrocytes and nucleated cells. Int. J. Biochem. 22 (4), 379–383.
- Parang, K., El-Sayed, N.S., Kazeminy, A.J., Tiwari, R.K., 2020. Comparative Antiviral Activity of Remdesivir and Anti-HIV Nucleoside Analogs against Human Coronavirus 229E (HCoV-229E). Molecules 25 (10), 2343.
- Parienti, J.J., Prazuck, T., Peyro-Saint-Paul, L., Fournier, A., Valentin, C., Brucato, S., Verdon, R., Seve, A., Colin, M., Lesne, F., Guinard, J., 2021. Effect of Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate and Emtricitabine on nasopharyngeal SARS-CoV-2 viral load burden amongst outpatients with COVID-19: A pilot, randomized, openlabel phase 2 trial. EClinicalMedicine, 100993. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eclinm.2021.100993. Epub 2021 Jun 27. PMID: 34222849; PMCID: PMC8235994.
- Pruijssers, A.J., Denison, M.R., 2019. Nucleoside analogues for the treatment of coronavirus infections Current opinion in virology, 35, 57-620.
- Pyrc, K., Bosch, B.J., Berkhout, B., Jebbink, M.F., Dijkman, R., Rottier, P., Van Der Hoek, L., 2006. Inhibition of human coronavirus NL63 infection at early stages of the replication cycle. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 50 (6), 2000–2008.
- Saha, A., Sharma, A.R., Bhattacharya, M., Sharma, G., Lee, S.S. and Chakraborty, C., 2020. Probable molecular mechanism of remdesivir for the treatment of COVID-19: need to know more archives of medical research.
- Scavone, C., Brusco, S., Bertini, M., Sportiello, L., Rafaniello, C., Zoccoli, A., Berrino, L., Racagni, G., Rossi, F., Capuano, A., 2020. Current pharmacological treatments for COVID-19: What's next? Brit. J. Pharmacol.
- Seley-Radtke, L.K., Mary Yates, K., 2018. The evolution of nucleoside analogue antivirals: a review for chemists and non-chemists. Part 1: early structural modifications to the nucleoside scaffold. Antiviral Res. 154, 66–86.
- Sheahan, T.P., Sims, A.C., Graham, R.L., Menachery, V.D., Gralinski, L.E., Case, J.B., Leist, S.R., Pyrc, K., Feng, J.Y., Trantcheva, I., Bannister, R., 2017a. Broad-spectrum antiviral GS-5734 inhibits both epidemic and zoonotic coronaviruses. Sci. Translational Med. 9 (396).
- Sheahan, T.P., Sims, A.C., Graham, R.L., Menachery, V.D., Gralinski, L.E., Case, J.B., Leist, S.R., Pyrc, K., Feng, J.Y., Trantcheva, I., Bannister, R., 2017b. Broadspectrum antiviral GS-5734 inhibits both epidemic and zoonotic coronaviruses. Sci. Translational Med. 9 (396).
- Sheahan, T.P., Sims, A.C., Leist, S.R., Schäfer, A., Won, J., Brown, A.J., Montgomery, S. A., Hogg, A., Babusis, D., Clarke, M.O., Spahn, J.E., 2020a. Comparative

## A. Abdullah Al Awadh

therapeutic efficacy of remdesivir and combination lopinavir, ritonavir, and interferon beta against MERS-CoV. Nat. Commun. 11 (1), 1–14.

- Sheahan, T.P., Sims, A.C., Zhou, S., Graham, R.L., Pruijssers, A.J., Agostini, M.L., Leist, S. R., Schäfer, A., Dinnon, K.H., Stevens, L.J., Chappell, J.D., 2020b. An orally bioavailable broad-spectrum antiviral inhibits SARS-CoV-2 in human airway epithelial cell cultures and multiple coronaviruses in mice. Sci. Translational Med. 12 (541).
- Sidwell, R.W., Huffman, J.H., Khare, G.P., Allen, L.B., Witkowski, J.T., Robins, R.K., 1972. Broad-spectrum antiviral activity of Virazole: 1-beta-D-ribofuranosyl-1,2,4- triazole-3-carboxamide. Science 177 (50), 705–706.
- Smolders, E.J. et al., 2016. Pharmacokinetics, efficacy, and safety of Hepatitis C virus drugs in patients with liver and/or renal impairment. Drug Saf. 39 (7), 589–611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-016-0420-2.
- Sofia, M.J., Bao, D., Chang, W., Du, J., Nagarathnam, D., Rachakonda, S., Reddy, P.G., Ross, B.S., Wang, P., Zhang, H.R., Bansal, S., 2010. Discovery of a β-d-2'-deoxy-2'α-fluoro-2'-β-C-methyluridine nucleotide prodrug (PSI-7977) for the treatment of hepatitis C virus. J. Medicinal Chem. 53 (19), 7202–7218.
- Tanaka, H., Oki, E., TsurugaN, K., MatsukuraA, S.H., Matsunaga, Y., Kondo, J., 2008. SuzukiMizoribine treatment of young patients with severe lupus nephritis: a clinicopathologic study by the tohoku pediatric study group. Nephron Clin. Pract. 110 (2), c73–c79. https://doi.org/10.1159/000151721. Epub 2008 Sep 1. PMID: 18758186.
- Taylor, R., Kotian, P., Warren, T., Panchal, R., Bavari, S., Julander, J., Dobo, S., Rose, A., El-Kattan, Y., Taubenheim, B., Babu, Y., 2016. BCX4430–a broad-spectrum antiviral adenosine nucleoside analog under development for the treatment of Ebola virus disease. J. Infection Public Health 9 (3), 220–226.
- Te, H.S., Randall, G., Jensen, D.M., 2007. Mechanism of action of ribavirin in the treatment of chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 3 (3), 218.
- Thomson, J.M., Lamont, I.L., 2019. Lamont Nucleoside analogues as antibacterial agents. Front. Microbiol. 10, 952.
- Wang, M., Cao, R., Zhang, L., Yang, X., Liu, J., Xu, M., Shi, Z., Hu, Z., Zhong, W., Xiao, G., 2020, Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro Cell research, 30(3), 269-271.
- Wang, X., Sacramento, C.Q., Jockusch, S., Chaves, O.A., Tao, C., Fintelman-Rodrigues, N., Chien, M., et al., 2022. Combination of antiviral drugs inhibits SARS-CoV-2 polymerase and exonuclease and demonstrates COVID-19 therapeutic potential in viral cell culture. Commun. Biol. 5 (1), 1–14.

- Warren, T.K., Wells, J., Panchal, R.G., Stuthman, K.S., Garza, N.L., Van Tongeren, S.A., Dong, L., Retterer, C.J., Eaton, B.P., Pegoraro, G., Honnold, S., 2014. Protection against filovirus diseases by a novel broad-spectrum nucleoside analogue BCX4430. Nature 508 (7496), 402–405.
- Westover, J.B., Mathis, A., Taylor, R., Wandersee, L., Bailey, K.W., Sefing, E.J., Hickerson, B.T., Jung, K.H., Sheridan, W.P., Gowen, B.B., 2018. Galidesivir limits Rift Valley fever virus infection and disease in Syrian golden hamsters. Antiviral Res. 156, 38–45.
- Witkowski, J.T., Robins, R.K., Sidwell, R.W., Simon, L.N., 1972. Design, synthesis, and broad spectrum antiviral activity of 1-. beta.-D-ribofuranosyl-1, 2, 4-triazole-3carboxamide and related nucleosides. J. Medicinal Chem. 15 (11), 1150–1154.
- Wu, C., Liu, Y., Yang, Y., Zhang, P., Zhong, W., Wang, Y., Wang, Q., Xu, Y., Li, M., Li, X., Zheng, M., 2020. Analysis of therapeutic targets for SARS-CoV-2 and discovery of potential drugs by computational methods. Acta PharmaceuticaSinica B.
- Zhang, L., Zhang, D., Yuan, C., Wang, X., Li, Y., Jia, X., Gao, X., Yen, H.L., Cheung, P., Huang, X., 2020. Role of 1'-Ribose Cyano substitution for remdesivir to effectively inhibit both nucleotide addition and proofreading in SARS-CoV-2 viral RNA replication. Bio Rxiv.

## **Further Reading**

- de Freitas, C.S., Higa, L.M., Sacramento, C.Q., Ferreira, A.C., Reis, P.A., Delvecchio, R., Monteiro, F.L., Barbosa-Lima, G., Westgarth, H.J., Vieira, Y.R., Mattos, M., 2019. Yellow fever virus is susceptible to sofosbuvir both in vitro and in vivo. PLoS Neglected Tropical Dis. 13 (1), e0007072.
- Elfiky, A.A., 2020. Anti-HCV, nucleotide inhibitors, repurposing against COVID-19. Life Sci.
- Hall, A.M., Hendry, B.M., Nitsch, D., Connolly, J.O., 2011. Tenofovir-associated kidney toxicity in HIV-infected patients: a review of the evidence. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 57 (5), 773–780.
- Saijo, M., Morikawa, S., Fukushi, S., Mizutani, T., Hasegawa, H., Nagata, N., Iwata, N., Kurane, I., 2002. Inhibitory effect of mizoribine and ribavirin on the replication of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS)-associated coronavirus. Antiviral Res. 66 (2–3), 159–163.